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Abstract: The article is dedicated to the early churches in Kastoria. None
of them can be dated basing on historical evidence. The researchers mainly
relied on the analysis of their wall paintings and expressed different views.
Analyzing the architectural features, the author shows that the churches are
closely related to each other and therefore must have been built during the life
span of two-three generations of local builders during the second half of the 10th
- first half of the 11th century. Some other churches in the neighboring regions
may also be connected with this local building tradition.
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Several Middle Byzantine churches preserved in Kastoria testify to the
existence of a strong local building tradition. The historical evidence on the
regional cultural history in general is fragmentary and scarce, and none of these
churches is securely dated. In this paper I will review the dating and interpreta-
tions proposed by other scholars and try to clarify the relations among these
churches and some other buildings through the analysis of their architectural
features and wall paintings.

Among the early churches of Kastoria two domed triconches stand out:
the church of Transfiguration outside the town and the church of Panagia
Kastriotissa or Koubelidiki in the citadel3 (Fig. 1A, 1B, 2, 3). In scholarly lit-

1 Lomonosov Moscow State University; State Institute for Art Studies, Moscow.
E-mail: zakharova@inbox.ru

2 Twould like to express my warmest gratitude to the colleagues from the Ephorate
of Antiquities of Kastoria, the director Dr. Andromachi Skreka and Dr. Ioannis Sisiou for
their help during my last visit to Kastoria in June 2021.

3 N.K. Movtcomovrog, Exxinoics e Kaotopidg, 9o¢—110¢ aidvog, Occoalovikn
1992, 2-109.
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Fig. 1 Triconch churches in
Ohrid and Kastoria. Plans (after:
S. Curcié, Architecture in the
Balkans, fig. 346).
Cn. 1 TpukoHXaIHE IPKBE y

A Oxpuny u Kacropuju. [Tnanosu
npema: C. Rypunh, Apxurexrypa
Ha bankany, cit. 346.
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erature these churches are often referred to together with the late 9th - early 10th
century triconch churches of St Panteleimon and St Archangels in Ohrid which
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Fig. 2 Church of Transfiguration near Kastoria. Late 9th century. Photo by the author

Ca. 2 Ipksa [IpeoGpaxema kon Kacropuje, kacau 9. Bex. @ororpaduja ayropa.

are close to them chronologically and geographically4 (Fig. 1C, 1D). Yet the
differences are also significant, therefore the four churches cannot be regarded
as a homogenous group.

Unlike the Ohrid triconches, all apses in the Kastoria churches are semicir-
cular both inside and outside, the lateral apses lack niches on their eastern sides>.

4 JI. Koo, Knumenmosuom manacmup ,,Ce. Ilanmenejmon“ u packonkama npu
 Hmapem* 60 Oxpuo, Tomumen 300pHuK. Punocodcku pakynTeT Ha YHHUBEp3UTETOT |
(Cromje 1948), 129-182; Idem, Tpuxonxaanume ypxeu 6o Knumenmosomo epeme, Cio-
BeHCKa mucMeHocT. 1050-roqumanHa Ha Kimvent Oxpuncku (Oxpun 1966), 91-100; G.
Strigevi¢, Eglises triconques médiévales en Serbie et en Macédoine et la tradition de I’archi-
tecture paléobyzantine, Actes du XII congres international d’études byzantines 1 (Belgrade
1963), 224-240; 11. I'po3nanos, Ceemu Haym Oxpuocku (Cxomje 1995), 28-31; N.K. Mov-
teomoviog, Exxinoies e Kaoropiag, 48-58; S. Curdié, Architecture in the Balkans. From
Diocletian to Siileyman the Magnificent. c. 300-1550, New Haven - London 2010, 323-325;
E. Kacanosa, /Joepadbume na ceemuxnumenmosama ypkea na Ilaownux xako 002060p na
coepemenume mekosU 60 OOYHOBU3AHMUCKAMA apxumekmypa, MUIEHHYMCKOTO 3padyere Ha
ceetu Kimmvent Oxpuickn: MeryHaponeH HaydeH cobup, Cromje, 28-29 oxromspu 2017
roguna, Cromje 2017, 379-386.

5 C.B. MasbueBa, Monacmeipckas apxumexmypa kpyea ceamoix Hayma u Knu-
menma Oxpuockux 8 Konmekcme xpamogozo 300uecmea Ilepeozo bonzapckozo yapecmea u
apxumexmypuuix mpaouyui guzanmuiickux nposunyui 1X-XI 6., AKTyalbHBIE ITPOOIEMBI
TEOPHH M HCTOPUH UCKycCTBa: cO. Hayd. crareil. [Tox pen. A.B 3axaposoii, C.B. ManbLesoi,
E.1O. CrantokoBuu-Jlenucoroii. Beim. 10, Mocksa - Cankr-IletepOypr 2020, 809—828; S.V.
Maltseva, Ohrid triconch churches and the Balkan architecture of the 9" and 10" centu-
ries, Ni§ and Byzantium XX. The collection of scientific works, ed. M. Rakocija, Ni§ 2022,
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Fig. 3 Church of Panagia
Koubelidiki in Kastoria.
Second half of the 10th
century. Photo by the
author.

Cx. 3 Lpkea [lanaruja
Kybenunuku y Kacropuju.
Jpyra nonosuHa 10. Beka.
dotorpaduja aytopa.

The bigger Transfiguration church in some aspects is similar to St Panteleimon
church in Ohrid which could have been its model. The building technique of the
Transfiguration church is different from that of other churches in Kastoria. It is
constructed mainly of roughly hewn stones. The brick is used only in the vaults
and the dome, and there is no ceramoplastic decoration. Basing on the com-
parison with some other Byzantine buildings, Nikolaos Moutsopoulos in his
comprehensive and influential study on the early churches of Kastoria dated the
Transfiguration church to the late 9th century®, which seems very convincing.
The church of Panagia Koubelidiki shows no direct connection neither
with the two Ohrid triconches, nor with the Transfiguration church in its com-
position, style and technique. It is related to other churches in Kastoria, such as
the churches of The Taxiarch of Metropolis, St Stephen, The Holy Anargyroi
and some others, dated by different scholars to various periods from the middle
of the 9th to the third quarter of the 11th century (Fig. 3-6). Thus, A. Orlandos
ascribed all the four churches to the 11th century?. A. Wharton Epstein puts the
churches of the Taxiarch, St Stephen and Koubelidiki to the turn from the 9th to
the 10th century and The Holy Anargyroi to the first third of the 11th century3.

291-304.

6 N.K. Movtcoémovrog, Exkineieg g Kaotopuig 2-20.

7 A. OpAhavdog, Ta folavuva puviueio s Kaoropidg, Apyeiov tov Bulavtvav pvn-
peiwv g EALGSog 4 (1938), 10-136.

8 A. Wharton Epstein, Middle Byzantine Churches of Kastoria: Dates and Implica-
tions, Art Bulletin 62/2 (1980), 190-207; Eadem, Art of Empire: Painting and Architecture
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author.

Cu. 4 Ipksa Takcujapcu y Kactopuju. Ipyra nonosuna 10. Bexa. dortorpaduja aytopa.

Fig. 5 Church
of St Stephen
in Kastoria.
Second half
of the 10th
century. Photo
by the author.

Ca. 5 lpxsa
Caetor
Credana y
Kacropuju.
Hpyra g
TIOJIOBHHA
10. Beka.

S. Pelekanidis dated St Stephen and Koubelidiki to the middle of the 9th cen-
tury, the Taxiarch to the 9th century and the Holy Anargyroi to the second half

of the Byzantine Periphery. A Comparative Study of Four Provinces, London 1988, 98-101,
112-113.
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Fig. 6 Church

of The Holy
Anargyroi.
Between 1018
and the middle of
the 11th century.
Photo by the au-
thor.

Ci. 6 Llpksa
Cgetux Bpaua.
Uzmehy 1018. n
cpenune 11. Bexa.
®dororpaduja
ayTopa.

of the 10th ¢.9 M. Chatzidakis pushed the dating of St Stephen and the Taxiarch
to the early 10th ¢. and the Holy Anargyroi to the turn from the 10th to the 11th
¢.10 N. Moutsopoulos puts St Stephen to the late 9th century, the Taxiarch to the
turn from the 9th to the 10th century, and Koubelidiki to the middle of the 10th
century, thus separating it from the first two churches and failing to explain
their utter dissimilarity with the Transfiguration churchl!l. The Holy Anargyroi
is moved to the middle or the third quarter of the 11th century!2. These datings
were repeated in some later publications with slight variations!3. One should
note that the scholars mainly relied on some characteristic features of the initial
wall paintings preserved in the churches of St Stephen, The Taxiarch and The
Holy Anargyroi.

In our view, all four churches should be placed in a narrower interval from
the second half of the 10th to the first half of the 11th century. They demonstrate

9 S. Pelekanidis, M. Chatzidakis, Kastoria, Athens 1985, 6-10, 22-23, 84, 92-93.

10 S, Pelekanidis, M. Chatzidakis, Kastoria, 14-18, 38, 102.

11 N. Movtodnoviog, Exrxinaies tne Kaoropiag, 86-305.

12 N. Movtodnoviog, Exkinaies tng Kaotopiag, 306-392.

13 N. Siomkos, L’église Saint-Etienne a Kastoria: étude des differentes phases du
décor peint (Xe—XIVe siecles), Thessaloniki 2005, 128-132 (St Stephen: early 10th c. See also
pp- 125-133, where all other opinions are summarized); 1. Sisiou (ed.), Zvvtijpnon vaod Ayi-
ov Zrepdvov, Bépota 2008, 7, 12 (St. Stephen and the Taxiarch: late 9th century); S. Curgié,
Architecture in the Balkans, 313-315, 323 (The Taxiarch: late 9th - early 10th c., Koubelidiki:
middle of the 10th c., St Stephen: 10th c., The Holy Anargyroi: around the middle of the 11th
c.); R. Ousterhout, Eastern Medieval Architecture. The Building Traditions of Byzantium
and Neighboring Lands, Oxford 2019, 408-409 (St Stephen: 10th c., The Holy Anargyroi:
around the middle of the 11th ¢.).
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Fig. 7 St Stephen
and the jigsaw
ornament. Wall
painting in

the church of

St Stephen in
Kastoria. Second
half of the 10th
century. Photo by
the author.

Ca. 7 Lpksa
Csetu Credan.
OpHaMEHT.
JKusonuc y upksu
Cgeror Credana
y Kacropuju.
Jpyra nonoBuHa
10. Beka.
®dororpaduja
ayTopa.

immediate connections and continuity in all most significant features which
means that they were built during the life span of two-three related generations
of masters. We shall consider these buildings in more detail.

The only domed church in our group is the triconch of Panagia
Koubelidiki, others are vaulted basilicas. Nevertheless, their compositions tend
to centrality and vertical development. In the basilicas of the Taxiarch and St
Stephen the centrality is stressed as soon as the aisles and the narthex shape a
sort of ambulatory around the nave which is not very long. In the churches of
St Stephen and The Holy Anargyroi the nave and the aisles are divided by walls
pierced with large arches. In all four churches the proportions are very high.
The vertical development of composition is stressed by the stepwise arrange-
ment of masses. Thus, the church of Koubelidiki has a pyramidal composition
with the three apses and the narthex marking the half of the building’s height,
the square tambour with triangular pediments marking the next step in the rise
of the attenuated drum and the dome. The basilicas of St Stephen and The Holy
Anargyroi have very high clerestories. Their eastern facades demonstrate simi-
lar stepwise arrangements with elevated gables over the apses. In the churches
of The Taxiarch and The Holy Anargyroi the central parts of the nartheces are
heightened, while in St Stephen there is a vaulted gallery over the narthex which
makes its western facade rise like a tower. Thus all the four churches share
many features in common in plan, construction and composition.

The similarity is even more obvious in their building technique and deco-
ration studied in great detail by Nikolaos Moutsopoulos!4. The building tech-
nique of these churches may be called a version of cloisonnée. The rows of
roughly hewn irregular stones are alternating with two-three courses of bricks.
In the joints between the stones some bricks are put vertically, diagonally or in

14 N. Movtoonoviog, Exrxinaies tng Kaotopidg, 431-486.
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Fig. 8 Church of St Achillius at Prespa. Ca. 986-990. Photo by the author.
Cn. 8 Ilpksa Cetor Axunnja y [Ipecrn. Oxo 986-990. @otorpaduja ayropa.

combinations resembling the Greek characters kappa, ny, chi, disepsylon, etc.
Various types of ceramoplastic decoration are also used: the dog-tooth friezes,
opus spicatum, solar motifs, ceramic tiles etc.

The churches of Koubelidiki and The Taxiarch are smaller and simpler
in their decoration. This can mean that they are somewhat earlier, although not
necessarily. In the both churches the dog-tooth friezes are recessed, the triangu-
lar and diamond shaped tiles are plain. In the churches of St Stephen and The
Holy Anargyroi these features are complemented with some new forms. The
arched windows are framed with projecting dog-tooth archivolts. The ceramo-
plastic ornaments are more complex, including rosettes with solar motifs. In
the church of St Stephen the size and shapes of the tiles are more diversified,
including the tiles with diagonal scratches.

Some of the original wall paintings are preserved in the churches of The
Taxiarch and St Stephen. In other works we considered these frescoes in greater
detaill5. As other scholars had rightly noted earlier, their expressive and sche-
matic painting style was influenced by the late 9th century mosaics in St Sophia
of Thessalonikil6. Yet we believe that these frescoes belong to a somewhat

15 A.B. 3axapoBa, @pecku IX-X 6. 6 Makeoonuu: npobremvt 0amuposKu u pazeumust
cmuns, Busantuiickuit Bpemennuk 105 (2021), 228-232; A. Zakharova, Frescoes of the First
Layer in the Church of St. Stephen in Kastoria and Their Place in Byzantine Monumental
Painting of the Macedonian Period, Collection of Articles in Honor of K. Loverdou-Tsigari-
da (in print).

16 A. Wharton Epstein, Middle Byzantine Churches of Kastoria, 192, S. Pelekanidis,
M. Chatzidakis, Kastoria, Athens 1985, 18; N. Movtcomoviog, Exxinoics te Kooropidg,
190-193, 292-298; N. Siomkos, L église Saint-Etienne a Kastoria, 129. We agree with Prof.
Maria Panayotidi who dated the wall paintings in the churches of The Taxiarch and St Ste-
phen to the third quarter or the second half of the 10th c., see: Panayotidi M. La peinture
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Fig. 9 Dome over the prothesis in
the church of St Achillius at Prespa.
Reconstruction by N. Moutsopoulos

(after: N.K. Movtconovioc, H faciliki |
00 Ayiov AyiAleiov atnv llpéora. Eva
Hvnueto Kifwtog g TOmKNS 10Toplog,

®eccarovikn 1999, . 222).

Ci. 9 Kynona u3HaJ| npoTe3uca y IpKBU
Cs. Axunmja y [Ipecnu. Pexonctpykuuja
H. MoyTtconynoca (nmpema: N.K.
MoyTtcomoviog, H factiitkn tov Aruov
Ayidieiov oty Ipéona. ‘Eva pvnueio
KIPwToG TG TOMIKNG 16TOpiag, ComyH
1999, ci. 222).

later period. They may be securely dated to the second half of the 10th century,
as soon as the so-called jigsaw ornaments (Laubsdge-Ornamentik)!7 appear
in the both ensembles!8 (Fig. 7). This type of decoration first emerged in the
Constantinopolitan illuminated manuscripts in the 940ies, gaining popularity in
the second half of the 10th century!9. It also spread in monumental painting in
the second half of the 10th - early 11th century20. This makes an earlier dating for

monumentale en Gréce de la fin de I’Iconoclasme jusqu’a 1’avénement des Comnénes (843—
1081) // CahArch. 1986. T. 34. P. 79-82.

17 K. Weitzmann, Die Byzantinische Buchmalerei des IX und X Jh. (2te Aufl.), Wien
1996, 18-22.

18 E.g., in the church of The Taxiarch, on the saints robes in the narthex arches; in
St Stephen, next to the figure of St Stephen at the gallery, above and below the figure of St
Christopher on the ground floor etc.

19 The earliest examples are cod. S. Marco 687 from the Laurentian Library (dated
to 943) and the Berlin Hippiatrica, cod. Phillipps 1538 (dated to 945-959). Other examples
from the second half of the 10th c. include cod. gr. 1675 and 1157 from the Vatican Library;
cod. 43 and 44 from the Monastery of John the Theologian on Patmos; New Testament cod.
Add. 28815 from the British Library; Gospel cod. 56 from the National Library of Greece;
two manuscripts from the State Historical Museum in Moscow, Syn. Greek 226 and Syn.
Greek 60 (dated to 975) and many others. See K. Weitzmann, Die Byzantinische Buchmaler-
ei, figs. 102—111, 121-124, 128-133, 139, 143-149.

20 The best examples are found in the wall paintings of the cave churches in Cap-
padocia, such as the New Tokal1 in Géreme (950s), Stimbiillii Kilise in Ihlara (second half of
the 10th century), Direkli Kilise in Belisirma (976—1025), the trikonch in Tagar near Yesiloz
(ca. 1000), the Church of St. Barbara in Soganli (1006/1021) etc. See: A. Wharton Epstein,
Tokali kilise. Tenth-Century Metropolitan Art in Byzantine Cappadocia, Washington 1986,
figs. 110-116; M. Restle, Byzantine Wall Painting in Asia Minor, Recklinghausen 1967, figs.
359-367, 371-373, 436437, 521-522.
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Fig. 10 Church of St Germanus at Prespa. The dome. Early 11th century. Photo by the
author.

Ca. 10 Lpxsa Cs. I'epmana y IIpecnu. Kynona. Panu 11. Bex. @ororpaguja ayropa.

Fig. 11 Church of
Dormition in Labovo.
Between 1018 and the
middle of the 11th cen-
tury. Photo by the author.

Ca. 11 Llpksa Ycnemwa y
JlaGomy. 3mehy 1018.
u cpenune 11. Bexa.
®dororpaduja ayropa.
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the frescoes of St Stephen and The Taxiarch hardly possible. As soon as these
churches are very close in all respects to the Koubelidiki, we consider all three
to belong to the second half of the 10th century, St Stephen probably being the
latest among the three.

The problem of dating of the early churches in Kastoria is inevitably con-
nected to the question of how the relate to the political, religious and cultural
situation in the region during the Bulgarian-Byzantine wars. From 904 to 1018,
with some short interruptions, Kastoria was under Bulgarian rule2!. After the
emperor John Tzimiskes (969-976) defeated the Bulgarians at Preslav (971)
and advanced to Danube, Western Macedonia became the main battlefield22.
The Bulgarians under the Komitopouloi regained control over significant parts
of their former territory here already by 976. Tsar Samuel (980-1014) continued
to fight with the Emperor Basil I (976-1025) intruding in Thessaly and Epirus.
The Bulgarian capital and patriarchal see moved several times, first to Sofia and
subsequently to Vodena, Moglena, Prespes and finally to Ohrid, during the rule
of Samuel’s successors or in his very last years23. In 1018 Basil II crushed the
Bulgarian kingdom and reintegrated its lands to the Empire.

Among other arguments, the Greek scholars tended to prefer earlier dat-
ing for the churches in Kastoria because they considered the period before the
Bulgarian-Byzantine wars to be more appropriate for the building activities24.
To the contrary, in the opinion of Bulgarian scholars, it is the period of Bulgaria’s
thriving under Tsar Peter and Tsar Samuel that these churches could have been
built25. Researchers rightly noted the similarity of plans of the vaulted basilicas
in Kastoria and of some churches excavated in Pliska and Preslav26. Yet the lat-
ter have been preserved only at the foundations level and are inaccessible for
study now, which makes any further comparisons difficult and risky. No Slavic
inscriptions have been found in the churches of Kastoria so far, whereas the
Greek inscriptions are numerous, including the painted inscriptions and graf-
fiti on the frescoes and scratched inscriptions on bricks in the churches of The

21 D.P. Hupchick, The Bulgarian-Byzantine Wars for Early Medieval Balkan Hege-
mony: Silver-Lined Skulls and Blinded Armies, Cham 2017, 167, 228, 253, 298.

22 S. Antoljak, Samuel and his State, Skopje 1985; C. Ilupusarpuh, Camyunosa op-
orcasa — obum u kapakmep, beorpax 1997; D.P. Hupchick, The Bulgarian-Byzantine Wars,
247-319. See also maps reflecting the state of military affairs between 971 and 1018: LE.
Kapaywavvomovioc, Xapteg uéong folovavig mepiodov (565-1081), Osocahovikn 1991, eik.
20-28.

23 C. Hupusparuh, Camyunosa opocasa, 154-156.

24 Thus, one of S. Pelekanidis’arguments for dating the Koubelidiki church to mid-
9th century was that its only window would have been closed by the citadel wall constructed
next to it in the late 9th century at the outbreak of the war (S. Pelekanidis, M. Chatzidakis,
Kastoria, 84). The critics of this hypothesis is provided in N. Movtcénovioc, Exkinoics tne
Kooropiag, 88. See also ibidem, 304-305.

25 H. MasponunoB, Cmapobwieapckomo uzkycmeo. Hzkycmeomo na ITvpeomo 6v-
neapcxo yapemeo, Cous 1959, 268-271, 277-279; H. Yanesa-/leueBcka, [{vprosuama ap-
xumexmypa na ITvpeama bvreapcka [Jopocasa, Codus 1984, 53-54.

26 H.Yauesa-J{eueBcka, LJvpkognama apxumexmypa, 53-55; N. MovtooémovAog, Ex-
xAnoies ¢ Kaotopiog, 125, 211; S. Curdi¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 313-315.
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Fig. 12 Cross-domed churches with ambulatory in Macedonia and Northern Epirus. Plans. A — church
of Koundouriotissa in Pieria, B — church at Pydna, C — church of Dormition in Labovo, D — church of
St Sophia in Drama (after: S. Curéié, Architecture in the Balkans, fig. 341).

Ci. 12 Kpcroobpasse npkse ca amOynaropujymoM y Makenonuju u Ceseprom Emmpy. [Ipukaszanu cy
mwraHoBH 1pkBe Kynmypuoruca y [uepuju, upkse y [Tunan, npkse Yeremwa y JIaboy u npkse CBete
Coduje y Ipamu (npema: C. hypunh, Apxurekrypa Ha bankany, cii. 341).

Taxiarch and St Stephen. This leaves no doubt that the builders and the painters
of these churches were Greek2’7. The commissioners, however, could belong to
the Bulgarian church or local aristocracy, Greek or Slavic28.

According to the highly plausible hypothesis of N. Moutsopolous, build-
ers from Kastoria could have participated in the erection of the churches of
St. Achillius and St. Germanus on Prespa upon the order of Tsar Samuel29. St
Achillius church was constructed after the capture of Larisa (986) from where
the saint’s relics were transferred to Prespes (Fig. 8). This is one of the larg-
est churches in the Balkans intended to be the main cathedral of the Bulgarian

27 N. Movtoonovrog, Exxlnaics te Kaoropidg, 144-155, 197-201.
28 S. Curdié, Architecture in the Balkans, 315.

29 N.K. Movteonoviog, H faocilikii tov Ayiov Ayideiov oty Ipéoma. T. A™-I"", Ogo-
carovikn 1989; Idem, H facidixi tov Ayiov Ayilieiov oty [lpéora. Eva uviueio kiffwtoc
¢ ToTmikN¢ 1oTopiog, ®eccaiovikn 1999; @. Kapayiavvn, Exioxonixoi vaoi e Méong Bula-
vavig mepiodov. To mapaderyua s Maxedoviag. Aidaxropixy owatpifn, Oescolovikn 2006,
261-264; S. Curdi¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 311-312.
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Fig. 13 Church of Dormition
in Labovo. The dome.
Between 1018 and the middle
of the 11th century. Photo by
the author.

Ca. 13 Kynona npkse
VYenewa y Jlabosy. M3mehy
1018. n cpennne 11. Bexa.

church, after the transfer of the court and the patriarchate to Prespes. It is a
three-nave basilica with narthex, galleries and large apse with synthronon. The
now ruined dome drums over the prothesis and the diakonnikon were deco-
rated with diamond-shaped ceramic tiles very similar to that in the churches
of Kastoria, especially Koubelidiki30 (Fig. 9). The dome drum of the nearby St
Germanus church is constructed in similar technique with characteristic bricks
resembling characters (Fig. 10). Having analyzed the architectural features, ar-
chaeological materials and graffiti, N. Moutsopoulos concluded that the church
of St Achillius was constructed by Greek builders, probably coming from the
captured towns of Thessaly and Kastoria3!.

Basing on photographs and descriptions of the initial wall paintings of St
Achillius published by N. Moutsopoulos32, now nearly ruined, one can assume
that masters from Kastoria could have participated not only in building, but also
in painting the church. The frescoes shared many features in common with the
paintings in the churches of The Taxiarch and St Stephen, such as the limited
palette with alternating red and white, the tricolor backgrounds with black in
the upper part and ochre in the middle, the planar interpretation of static figures
with huge eyes and thoughtfully rendered ornamental motifs.

The activities of the local workshop continued in Kastoria after the fall of
Bulgarian kingdom in 1018. In 1019 the Ohrid archbishopric was created and
Kastoria was ranked as the first among its dioceses. The church of The Holy

30 N.K. Movtcomovrog, H facidikn tov Ayiov Ayilieiov, 261-280, 288-296.
31 JIbidem, 307-310; S. Curtié, Architecture in the Balkans, 312.
32 N.K. Movtcomovrog, H facidikn tov Ayiov Ayilieiov, 205-213, ewc. 170-177.
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Anargyroi was most probably built after that, being the last in the group of
Kastoria early churches, according to all scholars33 (Fig. 6). Its building tech-
nique and decoration is in many ways similar to other churches, showing the
closest relation to St Stephen. Yet some new aspects also appear, such as more
carefully hewn stone blocks, the extensive use of carved marble details and the
two-stepped profiling of brick archivolts framing the windows and the niches.
These features show the influence from the capital probably coming through the
mediation of Thessaloniki. The initial wall paintings preserved in this church
also correspond to the dating in the first half of the 11th century34. They repre-
sent a local, simplified version of the so-called “hieratic” or “monastic style”,
widespread in Macedonia during this period.

One more church may be directly associated with builders from Kastoria.
It is the church of Dormition in Labovo near Gjirokastra in Albania (Fig. 11-13).
The church has been dated by different scholars to various periods between the
10th and the 13th century35. We attributed the wall painting with Deesis recently
uncovered in this church to the middle of the 11th century thus providing a
terminus ante quaem for the building36. In our view, the most plausible date
for the church construction would be between 1018 and the middle of the 11th
century3’.

33 See notes 7-13.

34 T. Malmquist, Byzantine 12" century frescoes in Kastoria: Agioi Anargyroi and
Agios Nikolas tou Kasnitzi, Uppsala 1979, 15 (first half of the 11th ¢.); A. Wharton Epstein,
Middle Byzantine churches of Kastoria, 195-198 (first third of the 11th ¢.); Eadem, Art of Em-
pire, 112-113 (early 11th ¢c.); S. Pelekanidis, M. Chatzidakis, Kastoria, 22-23 (S. Pelekanidis:
second half of the 10th ¢.), 38 (M. Chatzidakis: late 10th - early 11th ¢.); M. Panayotidi, La
peinture monumentale en Gréce, 84-86 (early 11th c.); N. Movtodnoviog, ExkAnoics ¢
Kaotopiag, 368-392 (middle - third quarter of the 11th ¢.).

35 P. Vocotopoulos and G. Koch dated the church to the second half of the 10th c.
(IL.A. Boxotomovhog, H exxinoiootixy opyrrexroviky eig v Avuxny Ztepeav ElAdda kai
v Hreipov. Amo tov téAovg tov 700 ugypt tov téAovg tov 1000 aimvog, Beccalovikn 1992,
86-92; G. Koch, The Church of Saint Mary in Labova/Albania, LEPETYMNOS. Studies
in Archaeology and Art in memory of Georgios Gounaris. Late Roman, Byzantine, Post-
byzantine Period. Ed. by Ath. Semoglou, I.P. Arvanitidou, Em.G. Gounari, Thessaloniki
2018, 61-75). The dating to the 13th century was supported by other researchers: A. Meksi,
Deux églises byzantines du district de Gjirokastra, Monumentet 9 (1975), 77-105; Idem,
L’architecture des églises a planimétrie en forme de croix a coupole en Albanie, Apnoc.
Tymtikog topog otov kadnynt N.K. Movtodnovro. Exd. I. Bedévng et al. T. 2, O@socalro-
vikn 1991, 1162-1165; Idem, Arkitektura e kishave té Shqipérisé (Shekujit VII-XV), Tirana
2004, 230-235; D. Pallas, Epirus, Reallexikon zur Byzantinischen Kunst 2, Stuttgart 1971,
310-315, 324; K. Englert, Der Bautypus de Umgangskirche unter besonderer Beriicksich-
tigung der Panagia Olympiotissa in Elasson, Frankfurt am Mein 1991, 84-86; E.K. Xa-
intpvewvog, To mepiotwo atny voTtePOfLloVTIVI] EKKANGIOOTIKY OpYITEKTOVIKY. 2Ye010.0UOC
— Aerrovpyia, O@scoolovikn 2004, 160-163, 189, 312-314.

36 A.V. Zakharova, Some Observations on the Church of the Dormition in Labovo
(Albania) and its Murals, AXAE 41 (2020), 157-172; A.B. 3axapoBa, O nedasHo packpui-
moti ¢hpecke c [Jeucycom 6 yepksu Ycnenus Bozopoouywt 6 Jlaboso, BectHuk cexropa Jlpes-
HepyccKoro uckyccrsa. XKypHai o uctopuu apeBHepycckoro uckyccersa 2 (2020), 33-45.

37 This dating was proposed by P. Damoulos: I1. Aapodrog, O vadg e Kownoews
¢ Ocotorov nrov Tiuiov Zravpod aro Avaw Aaumofo s Bopeiov Hreipov, Awddvn. Iotopia
Kot Apyordoyeia. Emotnpovikn enetnpida tov Tunpartog lotopiog xor Apyoioioyios g Pi-
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Fig. 14 Church of St Stephen in Kastoria. Eastern fagade. Second half of the 10th century.
Photo by the author.

Ca. 14. Ucrouna ¢acana upkse Cs. Credana y Kacropuju. [Ipyra nmonosuna 10. Beka.

Fig. 15 Church of The Holy Anargyroi in Kastoria. Window on the eastern fagade. Between
1018 and the middle of the 11th century. Photo by the author.

Ca. 15 Uctouna dacana upkse Cs. Bpaua y Kactopuju, npo3op. U3mehy 1018. u cpenune
11. Bexa.
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The church in Labovo has a very original composition combining the
features of the cross-in-square type and the cross-domed church with an ambu-
latory. The latter was the most wide-spread domed church type in Macedonia
before the 11th century. Its most important representative was the church of St
Sophia in Thessaloniki (7th or 8th ¢.)38, emulated in a series of later buildings
including the metropoly of Kitros at Pydna (10th ¢.)39, the nearby church of
Koundouriotissa in Pieria (9th-10th ¢.)40 and the church of St Sophia in Drama
(10th ¢.)41 (Fig. 12). In Labovo the domed square is separated from the ambu-
latory by triple arcades on columns, as in St Sophia of Drama. Yet the arches
supporting the dome are continued by the barrel vaults shaping the arms of the
cross and reaching the outer walls. The lower corner compartments are also
covered with barrel vaults. In the western part of the ambulatory there was a
wooden second floor, reminding the galleries both in St Sophia in Thessaloniki
and in many Constantinopolitan churches.

The building technique and decoration in Labovo is similar in many ways
to the churches in Kastoria42, especially to the churches of St Stephen and The
Holy Anargyroi. The same modification of cloisonnée is used with the brick
‘characters’ and ornaments. The opulent ceramoplastic decoration displays the
same samples of the dog-tooth friezes, opus spicatum, courses of bricks placed
vertically etc. The upper parts of the church in Labovo are completely covered
with square and triangular tiles. The decoration of the cylindrical drum is very
much similar to Koubelidiki (Fig. 3, 13). The tiles with diagonal scratches are
almost the same as those used in St Stephen (Fig. 14). The shapes of the bi-lobe
windows with a colonnette in the middle and stepped brick archivolts fully cor-
respond to that in The Holy Anargyroi (Fig. 15). In Labovo, the interchange of
the windows and semicircular niches in the drum is similar to that in the domes
over the narthex in Panagia ton Chalkeon in Thessaloniki (1028)43 (Fig. 16).

hocoikng ZyoAng tov [Mavemotpov loavvivoy 45-46 (2019), 119-148.

38 K. Theocharidou, The Architecture of Hagia Sophia, Thessaloniki: from Its
Erection up to the Turkish Conquest, Oxford 1988; S. Curci¢, Architecture in the Balkans,
257-260; I. BeAévng, Meoofvlovrivi vaodouio oty Osooalovikn, ABva 2003, 79-94; Idem,
H ypovoloynon tov vaod s Ayiag Xopiog Ocooalovikng Uéoa amo To. EXLYPOPIKG OEO0UEVD,
Oceocarovikémv T1ohg 13 (2004), 78-81; M. Kappas, Experimenting in Domed Construc-
tions: Ecclesiastical Architecture in Greece during the Transitional Period, Transforming
Sacred Spaces: New Approaches to Byzantine Ecclesiastical Architecture from the Transi-
tional Period. Ed. by S. Feist, Wiesbaden 2020, 95-128. See also: ®. Kapayévvn, Exiorxomni-
koi vaoi, 136, 138, 148-151, 155-156, 160, 252-258.

39 E. Mapxn, O ueoofolovtivog vadg g ITodvag, Ot apyoioddyor phovv yid myv
IMepia, Oscoarovikn 1986, 59-64; ®. Kapayidvvn, Exioxomixoi vaoi, 258-261.

40 S. Curdi¢, Architecture in the Balkans, 318-319; M. Kappas, Experimenting in
Domed Constructions.

41 A. Kovvrovpdg, X. Mraripting, H Ayia Zogia Apduag, H Apapa kor n mepoyn
™mc. lotopla xon moMtiopnde, Apdpa 1992, 141-155; S. Cur€i¢, Architecture in the Balkans,
320-321.

42 TI. Bokotomovlog, H ekxlnoiaotixiy opyitektovikn, 194-196, 201; G. Koch, The
Church of Saint Mary, 67-68; I1. Aapodrog, O vadg ¢ Koyjoewg, 129-134.

43 T. Behévng, H Polavavii apyitextovikii e Qesoalovirne, 10; S. Curdic, Archi-
tecture in the Balkans, 371-372; M. Kanmac, Apxumexmypusiil «uouonexmy @eccanoHuxu
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Fig. 16 Church of Panagia

ton Chalkeon in Thessaloniki.
Northern dome over the narthex.
1028. Photo by the author.

Cu. 16 CeBepHa Kymomna Haj
HapTeKkcoM npkee [laHaruje ToH
XankeoHn y Conyny, u3z 1028.
TOJIMHE.

The complex and original composition, based on the type of cross-domed
church with ambulatory popular in Macedonia, as well as the parallels with the
10th-11th century churches in Thessaloniki and Kastoria allow us to suggest that
the church in Labovo was erected under the guidance of some invited architect
by the local craftsmen, including some from Kastoria.

The churches of The Holy Anargyroi in Kastoria and Dormition in Labovo
belong to the next stage of development of the local artistic production after the
region’s reintegration to the Byzantine Empire and the creation of the Ohrid
Archdiocese. The building activity of the first Ohrid archbishops, John (1019-
1037) and Leo (1037-1056) obviously contributed to the influx of different
craftsmen, to the introduction and elaboration of new architectural types, meth-
ods and developments. The older local traditions mingled with new impulses
from the Byzantine capital and other artistic centers, first of all, Thessaloniki.
It is probable that builders from Kastoria, among others, took part in construc-
tion of some other churches as well, such as St Sophia in Ohrid44 or Dormition

6 cpeoHe- U NO30HeBU3AHMULICKUE NePUOdbl: cxo0cmea u pasiuuus ¢ Koncmanmunononem,
Busanmuii u Buzanmus: nposunyuanuzm cmoauysl u cmonuynocms nposunyuu / I1oo peo.
A.FO. Bunoepaoosa u C.A. Heanosa, Cauxrt-IletepOypr 2020, 133-137; A. Zakharova, Once
Again on the Originality of the Byzantine Architecture of the 11% century: the Church of
Panagia Chalkeon in Thessaloniki, AXAE 43 (2022), 81-94.

44 B. Schellewald, Die Architektur der Sophienkirche in Ohrid. Inaugural Dissertati-
on, Bonn 1986, 135-139, 142; b. Yunau, Ceema Coguja kamedpanen xpam na Oxpuocka ap-
xuenucxonuja. Xpononozeuja na apxumexmypama, Cxomje 1996; C. KopyHoscku, E. Inmu-
TpoBa, C. ['pannakoBcka, Cpednosexosna Maxeoonuja: Kynmypa u ymemnocm, Maxeoouuja.
Munenuymcku kynmyprno-ucmopucku (axmu, Cromje 2013, 1564—1568; S. Curié, Architec-
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in Drenovo, which may also belong to the middle of the 11th century45. On the
other hand, as N. Moutsopoulos#6 demonstrated, in Kastoria itself the builders
continued to use the characteristic building technique and decorative motives
well into the late 11th-12th centuries, as in the churches of Panagia Mavriotissa
and St Nicholas tou Kasnitzi, where some significant differences from the ear-
lier group may be attested too.

Thus, the complex analysis of architectural features and wall paintings al-
lows us to date the churches of Koubelidiki, Taxiarch and St Stephen in Kastoria
to the second half of the 10th century. At the end of the 10th century some masters
from Kastoria probably took part in constructing and painting the church of St
Achillius at Prespa and some years later in building the church of St Germanus.
The somewhat later churches of the Anargyroi in Kastoria and Dormition in
Labovo, built and painted around the second quarter or the middle of the 11th
century, are connected with the three earlier churches in Kastoria. Therefore
we can trace the continuous activity and development of the Kastorian building
school in the second half of the 10th - first half of the 11th centuries.

Ana 3axaposa
(MocKkoBCKHM Ip’KaBHU yHUBEP3UTET JIOMOHOCOB)
O IIPKBAMA 13 10. 1 11. BEKA ¥ KACTOPUJU U MOI'VRHOCTU 3A
ATPUBYLIMIY U JATOBAE

Lpxee Ilanmarmja KyOemmamku, Takcujapcu u cB. Credana y Kacropuju
TpaIMLIHOHAIIHO CY CMaTpaHe IPyIoM rpaheBrHa Koje Cy H3rpaJiiin JIOKaJIHH IPOTOMajCTOpH
U JlaTOBaHe Cy Y BpPeMeHCKH repuon o 9. no 11. Beka. Ha ocHOBY aHanm3e 10jeAMHOCTH Y
3ugamy 1upkse cB. Credana u npkse Takcujapcu, ayTopka Mokasyje Ja ce BpeMe Tpajmmbe
MOXke ToMepHTH y Apyry nonoBuny 10. Beka. Llpksa Yenema y JlaboBy y Anbanuju uma
CIINYHE apXUTEKTOHCKE KapaKTepPHUCTHUKE, HApOYUTO TEXHWKY 3HUJama IHMOMyT HaBEeICHUX
npkasa. Kommosunuja Jlensuc, koja je HeTaBHO OTKPUBEHA Y TaJIepPHjH OBOT XpaMa, MOTJIa Ou
ce jaToBaté y cpenuHy 11. Beka M O CBMM IPHIMKaMa je AeN0 paJroHUIIe Koja je pajuia
n y upksu cB. Coduje y Oxpuny. Omnmke apxutekrype npkse y JlaGoBy uMmajy H3BecHe
noxaynapHocT ca npkBoM Ceetux Bpaua y Kacropuju. KoHTHHyHpaHe akTUBHOCTH OBE
pazuoHuIle MOry ce npatuTu of cpeauHe 10. Bexa o cpenune 11. Bexa.

ture in the Balkans, 398-399; C.B. Mansnesa, A.A. ®pese, Cmpoumenvcmeo ¢ CegepHoii
Maxkedonuu 6 nepuoo nocie 8038paujeHus NoO BU3AHMULICKOE 81A0bIYECB0, AKTyalIbHBIE
po0OJIeMBl TeOpHH U ncTopuu MckyccTBa: CO. Hayu. Crareid. [Ton pen. A.B. 3axaposoii, C.B.
Mausnesoii, E.IO. CrantokoBuu-JlenucoBoii. Bem. 11, Cankr-IletepOypr 2021, 424-426;
A.B. 3axapoBa, C.B. Mans1eBa, Xydooicecmaennvie mpaouyuu u yepkosHO-NOIUMUYECKAs
udeonoaus 6 uckyccmee Maxeoonuu 6 snoxy cozoanus Oxpudckoi apxuenuckonuu, Buzan-
Triickui BpeMeHHUK 106 (2022), 184-185.

45 C. Ilejuh, Apxumexmoncka niacmuka boeopoouuune ypreu y [perosy, CrapuHap
36 (1985), 161-171; E. Xottpbeawvoe, To mepiotwo, 183; S. Curdié, Architecture in the
Balkans, 400-401; C.B. Mansiiea, A.A. ®pese, Cmpoumenscmeso ¢ Ceseproti Maxedonuu,
428-429; A.B. 3axaposa, C.B. Mansuesa, Xyooowcecmeennvie mpaduyuu u yepkosHo-nonu-
muueckas uoeonoaus, 192-193.

46 N. MovtoomovAog, Exxlnoies tys Kaotopidg, 401-430.



